IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,139

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT.

By—Chief Deputy Clerk

KENNETH WATSON,

Appellant,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BENNETT H. BRUMMER
Public Defender
Eleventh Judicial Circuit of
Florida
1351 N.W. 12th Street
Miami, Florida 33125
(305) 545-3010

ROBERT KALTER Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 260711

Counsel for Appellant

INTRODUCTION

This is a direct appeal by the defendant Kenneth Watson from an adjudication of guilt and sentence of death entered following a jury trial before the Honorable Juan Ramirez, Circuit Judge, Eleventh Judicial Circuit, Dade County, Florida.

Citations to the record are abbreviated as follows:

- (R) Clerk's Record on Appeal
- (T) Transcript of Proceedings
- (ST) Supplemental Transcripts of October 2, 1991
 Volumes I and II

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Watson was charged by indictment with first degree murder, armed robbery and armed burglary. (R.1-3A).

TRIAL

A. Defendant's Challenge For Cause of Jurors Webster, Benton and Vento

During voir dire, defense counsel asked the prospective jurors whether they could accept the principle that a defendant does not have to produce evidence or testify at trial. (S.T. 162). Three of the jurors indicated that they could not accept this principle. (S.T. 163-64, 168-69). When asked how they would feel if the defendant offered no evidence or did not testify, the three jurors responded as follows:

Juror Webster:

MR. SMITH: Right. Who feels the same way as Ms. Mena, that it would concern them if we didn't prove anything by bringing witnesses or bringing evidence?

Ms. Webster, that would concern you?

MS. WEBSTER: Yes, that would.

MR. SMITH: Why would it concern you? Same reason or for a different reason, you wonder why what we're doing here?

MS. WEBSTER: I think he should have the opportunity to have witnesses come in and testify for him.

MR. SMITH: Let's say we do have the opportunity but we choose not to do it, would it concern you?

MS. WEBSTER: Yes, it would because I think of that he was not being fairly represented in the criminal justice system.

MR. SMITH: Would it cause you to wonder whether or not Mr. Watson was guilty if we didn't put on any evidence?

MS. WEBSTER: I can't say that I would think that in my mind because in my mind I think he's innocent until proven guilty.

MR. SMITH: Okay. Let's say that they present their evidence and they rest their case and then the judge says to us what evidence do you have to present and we say none, would that concern you, would you think that Mr. Watson's probably guilty because we did that?

It's a hard question.

MS. WEBSTER: It is.

MR. SMITH: What do you think? The reason I'm asking you this is because there's a rule that says we're not required to do anything and if it would be difficult for you to follow the rule, as I said, the worst that happens is that you're not on the jury in this case. And if that rule is --

MS. WEBSTER: I don't think I could accept the fact that he did not present any evidence. (S.T. 163-64).

Juror Benton:

MR. SMITH: Mr. Benton, what do you think about that?

MR. BENTON: I believe if you didn't defend him you're not doing your job.

You need some defense, you don't just sit there.

MR. SMITH: What about Mr. Watson, what would you be thinking if we did that with Mr. Watson?

MR. BENTON: Where is the alibi or whatever. (S.T. 164).

Juror Vento:

MR. SMITH: Mr. Vento, how about that?

MR. VENTO: I don't think nothing, its a very hard question.

MR. SMITH: I know it is, I don't ask easy questions.

MR. VENTO: You have to present something.

MR. SMITH: Well, what if we didn't present any witnesses or didn't put on any evidence and the judge told you we don't have to, would you say well, the judge told me they don't have to, but it bothers me and I'm thinking about it. You see, it's tough to try to juggle those two things.

MR. VENTO: Would bother me.

MR. SMITH: Could you follow the law if the law said we didn't have to?

MR. VENTO: I don't know.

MR. SMITH: That would cause you some problem?

MR. VENTO: Yes.

(S.T. 168-69).

None of these three jurors modified, retracted or was otherwise rehabilitated from their expressed inability to accept the law.

Defense counsel moved to strike these three jurors for cause. (S.T. 243, 244, 246). The court denied all three challenges. (S.T. 243, 244,, 246). Defense counsel was forced to exercise peremptory challenges against all three, (S.T. 249, 253, 255), and subsequently exhausted his remaining challenges. Defense counsel requested three additional peremptory challenges (S.T. 261);

however, the court permitted only one. Defense counsel pressed for two more peremptory challenges, specifically identifying the objectionable jurors. (S.T. 262). The trial court denied this motion.

B. Juror Moss Informs Jury That Based On His Knowledge Of Case Death Only Appropriate Penalty

During voir dire, the panel was asked whether anyone had read or heard about the case. (S.T. 64). Juror Moss indicated at sidebar that he had read about the case in the newspaper and that he remembered that the crime was "kind of heinous." (S.T. 66). Later, defense counsel asked the jurors whether they believed that the death penalty should be the only punishment for first degree murder. (S.T. 204). Juror Moss stated in front of the entire juror venire:

Okay, knowing a little bit MR. MOSS: about what happened, the crime itself, and the violent nature of it, the heinous nature of it and my opinion, I think I would have a lot of mitigating to find trouble trying if defendant circumstances if, the would have trouble finding convicted, I mitigating circumstances against the death penalty in this particular case.

(S.T. 205).

Defense counsel immediately requested a sidebar, to no avail. (S.T. 205). At the conclusion of voir dire, but before the panel was chosen, defense counsel moved to strike the entire panel as

prejudiced by juror Moss' comments. (S.T. 239-240). Without any inquiry of the panel, the court denied the motion. (S.T. 241).

C. Jurors Allowed To Participate In Examination of Witness

Before the opening statement, the court indicated that it was going to allow the jurors to submit questions during the trial and if the court felt the questions were appropriate it would pose the jurors' questions to the witnesses. Defendant objected to this procedure. (S.T. 266). During the trial, over the continuing objection of counsel, the jurors submitted numerous questions to the trial court. (T. 995, 1038, 1127, 1128, 1213, 1344, 1345, 1346). The court posed some of the jurors' questions to witnesses and refused to pose others. (T. 995, 1037, 1410).

D. Opening Statement by Prosecutor

During opening statement, the prosecutor made improper comments which were designed to inflame the passion of the jurors by appealing to their sympathy:

The prosecutor began his opening statement by telling the jury that the victim Ella Hickman, was a 53 year old woman, was for fifteen years "the wife of the Reverend Donnie Hickman . . . known affectionately by her friends as Sister Ella, Sister Hickman." (S.T. 274). Defendant objected and at sidebar moved for a mistrial since the statements were designed solely to invoke sympathy and

The court did grant defense counsel's request to strike juror Moss for cause. (T. 245).

had no relevance to defendant's innocence or guilt. (S.T. 274). The court denied defendant's motion for mistrial. (S.T. 277).

The prosecutor thereafter persisted in an attempt to illicit sympathy from the jury. He again stated that Ms. Hickman was "known affectionately by her good friends as Sister Ella, or Sister Hickman, by the younger people as Mama" and that Mrs. Hickman "worked hard as a housekeeper four days a week." (S.T. 278). Defendant's objection to this irrelevant and prejudicial argument was overruled. (S.T. 278). The prosecutor emphasized to the jury the impact of the offense upon the victim and her husband when he asked the jury to "[t]hink about what Ella had gone through" (S.T. 181) and then told the jury "[Mr. Hickman's] whole life was shattered." (S.T. 181). Once again, defendant's motion for mistrial was denied. (T. 827-28).

E. Juror Abernott Telephones Co-Worker And Describes Prosecution As "Open and Shut"

Immediately after opening statement, Juror Abernott called her place of work, telling a co-worker that she had been selected to serve on an "open and shut case." (T. 875). Pursuant to the trial court's leading and suggestive questions, the juror stated that all she meant by this comment was that the trial was going to be short. (T. 876-79). The court accepted this explanation and denied defendant's motion to replace juror Abernott with an

The juror worked at the same place where the victim's stepson worked. (T. 874).

alternate juror, or, in the alternative, his motion for mistrial. (T. 877-78).

F. Facts

On October 31, 1988, Donnie Hickman came home from work at approximately 4:30 p.m. (T. 835). As he approached his front door, he noticed a broken window on the porch. (T. 847). Mr. Hickman walked around the perimeter of the house and, noting nothing else amiss, he entered it. (T. 847).

As Mr. Hickman entered the house, he saw his wife's purse on the living room floor with its contents emptied. (T. 849). He also noticed a cigarette butt on the living room floor. He proceeded into his son's room, where a container of coins had been emptied onto the floor. (T. 850). Mr. Hickman then went into his bedroom and discovered that his cuff links and ties had been moved. (T. 861). After looking in his room, Mr. Hickman entered his wife's room, where he found her body bound with rope, lying on the floor. (T. 891). He immediately called 911, then went to his neighbor's house. (T. 894).

Dr. Barnhardt, a medical examiner, testified that the victim had suffered six stab wounds around the head and neck area and that the cause of death was a stab wound to the carotid artery. (T. 1113). The doctor opined that the victim died within minutes after receiving this wound. (T. 1106).

Technician Stoker gathered evidence at the scene: blood stains by the alarm box, front door, closet door and bathroom door; (T. 1055-57) and a cigarette butt in the living room. (T. 1081).

After gathering the evidence, the technician lifted fiftyone fingerprints. (T. 1151). Two of the prints were found on a
glass bottle near the victim's body (T. 1142) and one was found on
a glass bowl in the living room. (T. 1134). The remaining prints
were found around the house. (T. 1131-44).

Technician Miller, a fingerprint examiner, testified that of the fifty-one latent prints he received, thirteen were of value. (T. 1279). He put these prints into the computer and the computer listed twenty potential suspects, including the defendant. The computer did not rate defendant as the primary suspect. (T. 1328).

Technician Miller compared defendant's fingerprints with the thirteen latent prints. His opinion was that two fingerprints lifted from the glass bottle found near the victim's body, and one print found on a glass bowl in the living room matched defendant's fingerprints. (T. 1288-89). After receiving Technician Miller's report, Detective Decora contacted numerous family members of the victim to see if they knew defendant. When the family members indicated they did not, the detective obtained an arrest warrant for defendant. (T. 1370).

On December 8, 1988, Detective Capittillo went to the Clayton County Jail in Georgia, to interview defendant. (T. 365). The detective advised defendant of his constitutional rights and defendant told the detective he knew his rights but he would not sign anything. (T. 369). The defendant spoke to the detective for one hour, denying any involvement in the homicide. (T. 377).

Defendant terminated the interview and told the detective if he had anything else to say he would contact the detective. (T. 377).

On June 14, 1989, Detective Fabregas, along with another detective, went back to Georgia in an attempt to get a statement. (T. 1420). According to the detective, defendant now waived his rights (T. 1422-24) and stated that "he entered the house with an intent to do something other than kill her and that he was there with an additional person." (T. 1429). The statement was not recorded nor memorialized in any way. (T. 1436).

During the investigation, the police obtained blood samples and saliva samples from defendant. Teresa Merritt, a forensic serologist, tested defendant's blood and determined that defendant had blood type B and that he was a secreter. (T. 1197). The serologist admitted that Donnie Hickman, the victim's stepdaughter Yolanda Davis, and the victim's stepson Christopher Hickman, were also blood type B secreters. (T. 1201).

An examination of the blood found in the hall, floor and closet door revealed that it was type B. (T. 1203). The saliva found on the cigarette butt was also left by a blood type B secreter. The serologist admitted that 22% of the black population has blood type B and are secreters. (T. 1204).

After deliberation, the defendant was convicted on all counts. (R. 192-94).

³The Hickmans, Yolanda Davis and defendant were all black Americans.

PENALTY PHASE

Prior to trial, defendant filed a motion alleging that under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments of the Federal Constitution, the trial court was required to instruct the jury that it was prohibited from considering two aggravating circumstances supported by a single aspect of the crime. (R. 68-69). A second motion alleged that Florida's jury instruction defining heinous, atrocious, and cruel was unconstitutionally vague. (R. 60-63). These motions were denied. (T. 401, 502).

During the penalty phase charge conference, the motions were renewed and again denied. (T. 1914, 1917). Defense counsel additionally requested that the jury be instructed regarding specific non-statutory mitigating factors, but the request was denied. (T. 1927-29).

The state's evidence consisted of two prior convictions: one for kidnapping in Georgia, in 1989; and one for aggravated assault, in 1981. (T. 1761, 1766).

The defense called Dr. Toomer, a psychologist. Dr. Toomer had conducted a psychodiagnostic interview with Kenneth Watson, then 26-years old. (T. 1771). Mr. Watson was born in Jacksonville, to a poor family from the projects, and moved to Miami when he was four years old. (T. 1773-74). Mr. Watson had five sisters and seven brothers and was raised primarily by his mother -- because his father was a truck driver who was usually on the road. (T. 1774). Mr. Watson completed the seventh grade. (T. 1774).

Dr. Toomer was of the opinion that Mr. Watson's family was dysfunctional, in that there was no effective communication nor appropriate nurturing. (T. 1774). The doctor indicated that he had an extremely difficult time interacting with defendant and that the interview revealed that Kenneth had impaired insight and judgment. (T. 1778). The doctor also observed that Kenneth had no plans or aspirations when he was a child. (T. 1779).

After conducting the psychological interview, Dr. Toomer gave Kenneth a digital span test, which showed that he had a weak cognitive processing ability. (T. 1780). The doctor also conducted the revised Beta exam, which revealed an IQ of 73, indicating borderline retardation. (T. 1786). Based on these tests, the doctor concluded that Kenneth's retardation caused severe emotional problems, which resulted in his committing the crime while under the influence of extreme mental disturbance. (T. 1787). In addition, Mr. Watson lacked the capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. (T. 1789).

After the defense rested, the state indicated that it intended to call Dr. Haber, who had been listed in a pleading as a rebuttal witness. (T. 1842). The defense objected on the basis of a discovery violation: the state had failed to notify defense counsel of Dr. Haber's oral report to the prosecutor. (T. 1854-1858). The court ruled that the state's failure to give defense counsel Dr. Haber's oral report was not a discovery violation, because Dr. Haber previously had been listed as a witness. (T. 1908).

Dr. Haber testified to the contents of his oral report to the prosecutor. He had reviewed the revised Beta exam given by Dr. Toomer and had concluded that the test was based on an improper method, and that, in addition, it had been improperly calculated. (T. 1874). Dr. Haber said that had Dr. Toomer properly calculated the figures yielded by the improper methodology, the test result would indicate a much lower IQ even than that reported by Dr. Toomer; Dr. Haber said a proper calculation yielded an intellectual deficit so profound as to be inconsistent with his observations of the defendant. (T. 1874).

The jury, by a 10-2 vote, recommended the death penalty. The court then dismissed the jury panel. (R. 256-57).

One week later, the court allowed testimony concerning the sentence that should be imposed. Coral Lee Watson, defendant's mother, related that Kenneth, now 28 years old, was one of thirteen children; that the family grew up in poverty; and that, during defendant's childhood, defendant's father was rarely home. (T. 1993). This resulted in Mrs. Watson being required to work to support her children, while Kenneth was responsible for taking care of his younger siblings. (T. 1995). Mrs. Watson said that Kenneth dropped out of school in the seventh grade; he had never learned to read or write. (T. 1996). As Kenneth grew up, he developed a severe drug problem, which persisted at the time of the crime charged. (T. 1996-97). Kenneth's sister also testified to his severe drug problem. (T. 2010).

In addition to this testimony on Kenneth's background the court considered the unanimous conclusion of the three court-appointed competency doctors that Kenneth has an extremely low intelligence level. (T. 2072, 2086, 2105).

On November 6, 1991, the trial court pronounced sentence. In the sentencing order, the court found four aggravating circumstances: (1) the defendant was previously convicted of two violent felonies, kidnapping and aggravated assault; (2) the capital felony was committed while defendant was committing a robbery and/or burglary; (3) the capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain; 4 and (4) the capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. (R. 311-13).

In its order, the court acknowledged that the defendant may have had a severe drug problem; that he could not read or write; that he had a low IQ and an intellectual deficit; that he was raised in poverty; and that he had a dysfunctional family. (R. 316). The court nevertheless found no mitigating circumstances. (R. 318).

The court sentenced the defendant to death, as to Count I, as to counts two and three, the court sentenced defendant to two consecutive life sentences and based its departure on the fact that the capital felony was not included in the scoresheet. (R. 318).

A timely notice of appeal was filed. (R. 320-21). This appeal follows.

After making findings two and three, the order recited that the court had considered only circumstance two. (R. 312).

ISSUES ON APPEAL

GUILT PHASE

I.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE AGAINST JURORS WEBSTER, BENTON AND VENTO WHERE ALL THREE JURORS INDICATED THAT THEY COULD NOT FOLLOW THE LAW CONCERNING DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT AND NOT PRODUCE EVIDENCE.

TT.

DEFENDANT WAS DENIED HIS SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO AN IMPARTIAL JURY WHEN, AFTER OPENING STATEMENTS, ONE OF THE JURORS CALLED HER PLACE OF WORK AND STATED THAT SHE WAS SELECTED TO BE ON A JURY IN AN "OPEN AND SHUT CASE."

III.

THE TRIAL COURT DENIED DEFENDANT HIS SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO AN IMPARTIAL JURY BY FAILING TO STRIKE THE PANEL WHEN A JUROR INFORMED THE ENTIRE PANEL THAT, BASED UPON A NEWSPAPER ARTICLE, HE FELT THE HOMICIDE WAS HEINOUS AND THE ONLY APPROPRIATE PENALTY WAS DEATH.

IV.

THE TRIAL COURT DENIED DEFENDANT HIS RIGHT TO AN IMPARTIAL JURY AS GUARANTEED BY BOTH THE FLORIDA AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTIONS BY ALLOWING THE JURORS TO BECOME ADVOCATES RATHER THAN FACT FINDERS WHEN THE COURT ALLOWED THE JURORS TO QUESTION WITNESSES.

V.

THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTIONS FOR MISTRIAL DURING THE STATE'S OPENING STATEMENT WHEREIN THE STATE IMPROPERLY APPEALED TO THE SYMPATHY OF THE JURY.

PENALTY PHASE VI.

THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO CONDUCT AN ADEQUATE RICHARDSON HEARING REQUIRES REVERSAL.

VII.

A NEW SENTENCING HEARING IS REQUIRED BECAUSE THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS FAILED TO PROPERLY DEFINE AND LIMIT WHEN THE DEATH PENALTY IS REQUIRED.

VIII.

THE IMPROPER VICTIM IMPACT ARGUMENT MADE DURING THE STATE'S OPENING ARGUMENT IN THE GUILT PHASE DENIED DEFENDANT A FAIR SENTENCING HEARING.

IX.

THE TRIAL JUDGE FAILED TO CONSIDER AND PROPERLY WEIGH ALL THE MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES INTRODUCED DURING THE PENALTY PHASE, IN VIOLATION OF KENNETH WATSON'S RIGHTS UNDER FLORIDA LAW AND THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

x.

IN CONTRAVENTION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, THE FLORIDA CAPITAL SENTENCING STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE AND AS APPLIED.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

GUILT PHASE

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