APR 26 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 79, 139

KENNETH WATSON,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

ANITA J. GAY
Florida Bar # 0745227
Assistant Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
P.O. Box 013241
401 N.W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921
Miami, Florida 33101
(305) 377-5441

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

[Defense Counsel]: The question was would you look at the facts of the crime and the facts of the defendant and--

THE COURT: Maybe he thought that you were talking about this crime after this court had told him that he's not to speak to the jurors, that he was not allowed to speak--I think you opened the door.

[Defense Counsel]: He was not to speak about what he was told about this.

THE COURT: I'm going to deny the motion. (ST. 240-41).

Under the invited error doctrine, defense counsel may not create error at trial and then take advantage of the error on appeal. Czubak v. State, 570 So. 2d 925, 928 (Fla. 1990).

After eliciting the statements from Juror Moss, defense counsel moved to strike him for cause and the trial court granted the request. (ST. 246). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Watson's request to strike the venire panel where the statements of Juror Moss were provoked by defense counsel, duplicated evidence which was properly presented at the trial, and did not result in any prejudice to Watson.

Although, defense counsel did not request either a mistrial or curative instruction the venire had previously been instructed not to discuss the case with Juror Moss and there has been no showing that they were prejudiced by his isolated comment. Moreover, after objectionable comments have been made, curative

instructions admonishing the jurors to disregard such comments are routinely deemed sufficient to cure any error arising out of such comments. See Ferguson v. State, 417 So. 2d 639 (Fla. 1982); Greer v. Miller, 483 U.S. 756, n. 8, 107 S.Ct. 3102, 97 L.Ed.2d 618 (1987).

Additionally, given the isolated nature of the statement and the corrective action taken by the trial court, there is no reasonable possibility that the single statement of Juror Moss affected the verdict. The comment regarding the heinous nature of the crime was made in response to questions regarding the sentencing phase. Juror Moss' opinion of the crime as heinous relevant to guilt or sentencing, not as to Watson's Consequently, any error arising from the statement applies only to the penalty phase and not to the guilt phase of trial. Furthermore, there is no prejudice where the information conveyed by the statement merely duplicated evidence which was presented during trial. Bottoson v. State, 443 So. 2d 962, 966 (Fla. 1984).

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING THE JURORS TO SUBMIT WRITTEN OUESTIONS FOR THE WITNESSES.

As his next point, Watson claims that he was denied his right to a fair and impartial jury where the trial court allowed the jurors to present questions to be asked of the witnesses. There has been no affirmative showing by Watson that the procedure operated to his detriment or that the trial court abused its discretion.

It is undisputed that the trial court has discretion in allowing jurors to ask questions of witnesses during trial.

Strawn v. Sate ex. rel. Anderberg, 332 So. 2d 601 (Fla. 1976);

Shoultz v. State, 106 So. 2d 424 (Fla. 1958); Ferrara v. State,

101 So. 2d 797 (Fla. 1958); Scheel v. State, 350 So. 2d 1120

(Fla. 3d DCA 1977); Pierre v. State, 601 So. 2d 1309 (Fla. 4th

DCA 1992); DeBenedetto v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co., 754 F.2d

512 (4th Cir. 1985).

Watson objected to the procedure of allowing the jurors to ask questions out loud. (R. 993). The trial court instructed the jurors that the questions would have to be written down, and defense counsel did not object to the format, but only to the procedure of allowing the questions. (R. 994). Furthermore, Watson failed to object to the competency or substance of the particular questions asked and did not properly preserve this issue for review. As for the procedure, it did not abridge

Watson's right to a fair trial. The questions were written down, submitted to the trial judge, screened by the judge and trial counsel, and the relevant questions were asked of the witnesses. (R. 995-96, 1038, 1126-28, 1213-14, 1343-45, 1410).

Of the three questions identified in appellant's brief as improper, none of them were prejudicial or argumentative. Nor were they irrelevant to the issues or indicative of a juror becoming prejudiced against Watson. Contrary to Watson's assertions, the questions posed to the expert fingerprint examiner were not prosecutorial in nature. As proof, he submits that they prompted the prosecutor to ask follow-up questions. However, both the prosecution and defense were motivated to ask additional questions of the fingerprint expert after the jury questions were presented. (R.1346-49).

Watson has failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion in allowing juror questions. There is nothing to suggest that the jurors who posed questions had become incompetent to discharge their duty as jurors. His claim that he was denied his right to a fair and impartial jury is unfounded and unsupported by the record.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED WATSON'S MOTION FOR MISTRIAL WHERE THE PROSECUTOR MADE NO IMPROPER COMMENTS DURING OPENING STATEMENTS.

Watson contends that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion for mistrial made in response to the prosecutor's opening statement. However, the opening statement was a proper description of the relevant evidence to be presented and any alleged error was waived by defense counsel's rejection of the trial court's offer to give a curative instruction to the jury.

Opening remarks are not evidence, and the purpose of opening is to outline what an attorney expects established by the evidence. Whitted v. State, 362 So. 2d 668 (Fla. 1978). Accordingly, the jury in this case was instructed that the opening statements were not evidence and were not to be considered by them (R. 794). as such. The control prosecutorial statements is within the trial court's discretion and Watson has not shown an abuse of discretion in the trial court's denial of his motion for mistrial. Durocher v. State, 596 So. 2d 997 (Fla. 1992).

During opening statement, the prosecutor stated that the victim was married to Reverend Hickman, that they had been away from home the weekend prior to her murder, that she was a fastidious housekeeper, that she shopped for groceries on Monday,

and that she was known as either "Sister Ella" or "Mama". (R. 799-804). This evidence was relevant to establish that the victim's stepson had stayed in the house and observed the scene prior to the commission of the murder. The evidence of her cleaning and shopping habits was relevant to establish that she had been performing her daily routine when she was killed. The victim's housecleaning habits were important to explain why few latent prints were discovered at the scene as well as to demonstrate how unusual it was for items to be out of place in her home.

Watson argues that these statements constituted improper victim impact evidence designed to evoke sympathy from the jury. However, the jury was instructed by the trial court, as well as told by the prosecutor, that they were not to be affected by feelings of sympathy for either the victim or the defendant. (R. 660, 1654). Further, in Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. _____, 111 S.Ct. 2597, 115 L.Ed.2d 720 (1991), the United States Supreme Court receded from its holdings in Booth v. Maryland, 482 U.S. 496, 107 S.Ct. 2529, 96 L.Ed.2d 440 (1987), and South Carolina v. Gathers, 490 U.S. 805, 109 S.Ct. 2207, 104 L.Ed.2d 876 (1989), regarding admission of evidence about the victim.

When the prosecutor described Watson's actions in entering the house and arming himself with a long thin blade before beginning the "torture", a defense objection was sustained. (T. 805). Additionally, the trial court instructed the jury to

disregard the statement and again reminded them that opening statements were not evidence. (T. 805). Watson has not shown that this comment was such grave error as to vitiate the entire proceeding and merit a mistrial. Cobb v. State, 376 So. 2d 230 (Fla. 1979).

Although Watson's objections, to Hickman's life being shattered and what the victim went through, were sustained, he rejected the trial judge's offer of a curative instruction, thereby waiving his right to raise these comments as error on appeal. (R. 826-28). As stated by this Court with the following:

The proper procedure to take when objectionable comments are made is to object and request an instruction from the court that the jury disregard the remarks.

Duest v. State, 462 So. 2d 446 (Fla. 1985).

If improper, the opening statement was not sufficiently prejudicial in its content to require reversal. The limited comments were not sufficiently prejudicial to vitiate the entire proceeding and require reversal. <u>Valle v. State</u>, 581 So. 2d 40, 48 (Fla. 1991), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u> 112 S.Ct. 597, 116 L.Ed.2d 621.

The unrebutted evidence established that Watson burglarized the victim's house, tied the victim up with a cord, stabbed her at least once in the hallway, continued to stab her in the bedroom, took jewelry, money and personal property, left three fingerprints inside of the house, and admitted that he entered

the house without the intent to kill. Given this unequivocal evidence of guilt, there is no reasonable possibility that the comments of the prosecutor contributed to the jury's verdict. Watts v. State, 593 So. 2d 198 (1992), cert. denied 112 S.Ct. 3006, 120 L.Ed.2d 881; State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT THERE WAS NO PREJUDICE TO THE DEFENSE DUE TO DR. HABER'S REBUTTAL TESTIMONY AT SENTENCING.

In his next point, Watson argues that the trial court should have conducted an inquiry, pursuant to <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971), or granted a mistrial due to Dr. Haber's opinion testimony which was presented in rebuttal to Toomer's testimony. This argument is without merit.

Upon receipt of reciprocal discovery from the defense which listed Toomer as a witness, the State listed Dr. Haber as a rebuttal witness for the sentencing phase. (R. 1853). However, the defense did not depose Dr. Haber or inquire until immediately prior to his testimony about the substance of his opinions. (R. 1852). Just as Dr. Toomer, the defense expert had done, Dr. Haber did not prepare any written, and therefore, discoverable, reports of his opinions and conclusions. (R. 1902).

This was not a discovery violation and the trial court properly ruled that there had been no discovery violation. (R. 1856). Dr. Haber's opinions were not written or recorded "statements" or "reports" within the purview of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.220(b)(1)(J), and accordingly no discovery violation occurred and no Richardson inquiry was necessary. See Johnson v. State, 545 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989)(Disclosure of an oral, unrecorded statement of a state witness to the prosecuting attorney was not required under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.220(a)(1)(ii)

and was not a discovery violation); State v. Lewis, 543 So. 2d 760, 767 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989)(Personal observation of lighting conditions by investigating officer did not constitute a scientific test within the meaning of Rule 3.220 and was not a discovery violation).

However, in an abundance of caution, the trial court conducted a hearing pursuant to <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 1971), and established that there had been no prejudice to the defense by allowing the rebuttal testimony of Dr. Haber. (R. 1898-1908). Dr. Haber's name was furnished to the defense as a rebuttal witness for the sentencing phase and the defense elected not to depose him. The trial court did abuse its discretion in determining that no discovery violation had occurred, and if one did occur that Watson was not prejudiced or affected in his ability to prepare for trial

Moreover, the trial court stated that it did not reject the proposed statutory mitigating circumstances due to Dr. Haber's testimony, rather it rejected them due to the lack of a factual basis for Toomer's conclusions. (R. 284). Accordingly, there is no reasonable possibility that any error created by the admission of Dr. Haber's opinions contributed to the sentence. State v. DiGuilio, supra.

VII.

WATSON FAILED TO PRESERVE ANY OBJECTION TO THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS GIVEN DURING THE SENTENCING PHASE.

Defense counsel did not file a written request for special instructions on HAC, doubling, or nonstatutory mitigation pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.390(c), and did not object to the instructions given after the jury was instructed and prior to their deliberations, pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.390(d). (R. 1966). See Walker v. State, 473 So. 2d 694 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985)(Issue not properly preserved where defendant failed to object to failure to give instructions prior to the time the jury retired to consider its verdict); Harris v. State, 438 So. 2d 787 (Fla. 1983)(Because no objection was made in accordance with Rule 3.390(d), appellant waived his right to challenge the instruction on appeal.).

In addition to being barred from appellate review, Watson's objection to the HAC instruction is without merit. The instruction which was given was constitutional under Espinosa v.Florida, 505 U.S. _____, 112 S.Ct. ____, 120 L.Ed.2d 854 (1992). The jury was instructed as follows:

The crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel--or cruel. Heinous means extremely wicked or shockingly evil. Atrocious means outrageously wicked and vile; and cruel means designed to inflict a high degree of pain with utter indifference to or even enjoyment of the suffering of others.

What is intended to be included are those capital felonies where the actual commission of the capital felony is accompanied by such additional acts as to set the crime apart from the norm of capital felonies, that is the conscienceless or pitiless crime which is unnecessarily torturous to the victim.

(R. 1962).

As conceded by Appellant, the instruction in this case has been held by this Court to be constitutional. <u>Lucas v. State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S15 (Fla. December 24, 1992); <u>Hall v. State</u>, 18 Fla. L. Weekly S63 (Fla. Jan. 14, 1993).

Moreover, the facts show the murder of Ella Hickman to have been heinous, atrocious, or cruel. Her murder was a brutal slaying and was accompanied by additional facts that set it "apart from the norm of capital felonies". Dixon v. State, 283 So. 2d 1, 9 (Fla. 1973), cert. denied, 416 U.S. 943, 94 S.Ct.

1950, 40 L.Ed.2d 295 (1974). This factor is supported by the record as demonstrated by the sentencing order of the trial judge:

Ella Hickman, a 53-year-old woman, was found laying dead in her bedroom. Her ankles and neck had been tied by a telephone cord that had been pulled from a wall. She had five stab wounds to her neck, and one to her The one to the throat severed her throat. carotid artery and penetrated her windpipe, causing her either to suffocate or bleed to Jay Barnhardt, the Dr. Examiner, testified that her death would have taken anywhere from thirty seconds to a few minutes. He also testified that Ella Hickman was alive when she received all six stab wounds.

The evidence also showed that there were two drops of the victim's blood that were found in the hallway, outside the bathroom, that her shoes were under her purse in the living room, and that her groceries were still in her car. This indicated that she was surprised while in her home, and was forcibly taken into the bedroom. She was obviously tied with the telephone cord prior to her murder, as it would have made no sense to have tied her up after she was dead. This would also explain the lack of defensive wounds.

There can be no doubt that Ella Hickman, who was murdered in her own home, was terrorized and knew that her death was imminent. was the kind of crime intended to be included in this aggravating circumstance, as it was accompanied by such additional acts which set this homicide apart from the norm of capital felonies. These facts show indifference by the defendant to the suffering he caused. [citations omitted]. It was a conscienceless or pitiless crime, which was unnecessarily torturous to the victim, Ella Hickman. [citations omitted]. There can be argument that this murder especially heinous, atrocious and cruel.

(R. 282-83).

The State would also add that any error with respect to the absence of an instruction regarding the doubling of aggravating factors is harmless where the trial court expressly stated that separate weight was not being given to the aggravating circumstance of pecuniary gain. (R. 282). There is no reasonable possibility that a procedurally proper request for such an instruction would have affected the sentence recommendation.

In addition to being procedurally barred, Watson's argument regarding an instruction on nonstatutory mitigation is also without merit. This Court has previously rejected this argument with the following:

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